1985

Matthew Fenn Hilton v. Mirvin D. Borthick : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by investors in Grove Finance Company against the State of Utah and the Department of Financial Institutions to recover the amount of the investment lost when Grove Finance became insolvent in 1980.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The Honorable Timothy R. Hanson of the Third District Court, granted defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis of governmental immunity.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek a reversal of the order granting summary judgment and a remand to the district court allowing the case to proceed to trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Grove Finance Company was incorporated in 1960 as a small loan business pursuant to Section 7-10-1, et seq., Utah Code Ann. (repealed 1969). (R. at 837, 771.) From 1960 until

1969 Grove Finance Company operated as a small loan business.

When the Small Loan Act was repealed in 1969, Grove Finance Company opted to become a supervised lender pursuant to Section 70B-3-501, et seq., Utah Code Ann. (R. at 838, 772.)

In 1969, W. Smoot Brimhall, who was at that time the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Institutions, made a determination that Grove Finance Company as a supervised lender was not subject to the Department's jurisdiction under Sections 7-1-7 and 7-1-8, Utah Code Ann. (1953). (R. at 379-380, 839, 772.) The Department of Financial Institutions, pursuant to Section 70B-3-506, Utah Code Ann., established a procedure whereby it made annual examinations of the loan records of Grove Finance Company. (R. at 839, 773.)

From the early 1970's until its closure in 1980, Grove Finance Company held itself out to the general public as accepting monies on deposit and in fact did accept monies on deposit. (R. at 839, 864-865, Deposition of Howard Sherwood, pg 14.)

From the early 1970's until its closure in 1980, Grove Finance Company through its agents and in the mass media advertised that deposits made in Grove Finance Company were insured up to \$10,000. (R. at 839, 835, Deposition of Howard Sherwood, pg 23.)

Between 1969 and 1980, the Department of Financial Institutions received a number of telephone calls from individuals claiming to be depositors of Grove Finance

Company. They stated that they had either a savings certificate or a passbook issued by Grove Finance Company. (R. at 925.)

During this same period of time, the Department of Financial Institutions received telephone calls from individuals inquiring as to whether the debentures sold by Grove Finance Company were insured. The Department of Financial Institutions was also told that agents of Grove Finance Company had represented to the public that the monies deposited in the Company were insured up to \$10,000. (R. at 835, Deposition of Howard Sherwood, pg 23.)

None of the inspections of Grove Finance Company performed by the Department of Financial Institutions uncovered evidence that Grove Finance Company was accepting monies on deposit. (R. at 839, 390.)

Between 1969 and 1980, Hal S. Haycock, one of the officers of Grove Finance Company, commingled the assets of Grove Finance Company with his personal assets. (R. at 840.)

On March 13, 1980, in response to a complaint received by the Department of Financial Institutions from the Bank of American Fork, the Department of Financial Institutions sent Gary R. Cox and Code Shaw to examine Grove Finance Company. (R. at 375.) Mr. Cox and Mr. Shaw found that the records of Grove Finance Company were in a state of shambles and that the information submitted by Grove Finance Company on its reports to the Department of Financial Institutions could not be

verified or confirmed by the books and records of Grove Finance Company. Mr. Cox stated in his report to the Department of Financial Institutions:

The many inconsistencies noted between the financial statements received from this company which tend to confuse and mislead along with lack of bookkeeping and control exhibited by Grove Finance Company are a major concern. Based on the bookkeeping methods being employed by this institution, a clear, well-defined accounting trail that could be followed does not exist . . .

(R. at 898.)

As a direct result of the examination by Messrs. Cox and Shaw on April 8, 1980, the Department of Financial Institutions issued a cease and desist order to Grove Finance Company requiring that it cease and desist from any further sales of debentures or any further activity which would result in money or other assets being transferred into Grove Finance Company in exchange for an obligation of Grove Finance Company. (R. at 385, 900A.)

At approximately the same time that it issued the cease and desist order, the State of Utah hired the CPA firm of H. Sherwood & Company to audit the books and records of Grove Finance Company. (R. at 382, Deposition of Howard Sherwood, pg 7.)

On or about July 18, 1980, the Department of Financial Institutions petitioned the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County to allow the Department of Financial Institutions to take possession of Grove Finance Company. On that same day an order granting possession of Grove Finance Company was

signed by Judge Ballif and the Department of Financial Institutions closed Grove Finance Company. (R. at 841.)

On or about August 22, 1980, Grove Finance Company filed a Chapter 11 bankruptcy in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the District of Utah. (R. at 841.)

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

This action originally commenced as three separate complaints, each brought by a group of investors in the defunct Grove Finance Company. Two of the three actions were consolidated on October 27, 1982. (R. at 410-412.) The third action was consolidated therein on June 22, 1983. (R. at 765-766.)

The defendants brought a motion to dismiss on January 5, 1983. (R. at 594-595.) The motion was argued before Judge Timothy R. Hanson on March 4, 1983 and was denied on May 18, 1983. (R. at 753-754.)

The defendants brought a motion for summary judgment on July 21, 1983. (R. at 783-784.) The plaintiff brought a motion for summary judgment on July 28, 1983. (R. at 833-834.) These motions were argued before Judge Timothy R. Hanson on November 3 and 8, 1983.

Judge Hanson issued a memorandum decision denying plaintiffs' motion and granting defendants' motion on April 26, 1984. (R. at 962-966.) An order awarding judgment for the defendants was entered on May 22, 1984. (R. at 968-969.)

A notice of appeal was filed with the district court on June 20, 1984. (R. at 761-762.)

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
HAD A STATUTORY DUTY TO INSPECT GROVE FINANCE COMPANY

The basic position of the appellants in this action is that the Department of Financial Institutions had a statutory duty to make certain inspections of Grove Finance Company and that the losses sustained by the appellants in this action are due to the failure of the State of Utah to make the required inspections.

A. Duty to Inspect Under Title 7. In 1981 the Utah State Legislature repealed most of the sections of Title 7 and replaced them with the Financial Institutions Act of 1981. The cause of action in this case arose prior to this change in state law and all citations to sections in Title 7 are to the former law as it existed at the time when the cause of action arose.

Grove Finance Company at all times from 1969 to its closure in July 1980 was a corporation doing a banking business under Utah law. Section 7-3-3 which defines a banking business states as follows:

Any corporation holding itself out to the public as receiving money on deposit, whether evidenced by a certificate, promissory note or otherwise, shall be considered as doing a banking business and shall be subject to the provisions of this chapter as to such business.

If this case is allowed to proceed to trial, appellants will establish, among other things, that the

Department of Financial Institutions was on notice that Grove Finance Company was indeed accepting money as if on deposit long before the Department issued the April 1980 cease and desist order. Knowledge of this activity would have brought Grove Finance Company within the purview of Title 7 under U.C.A. §7-3-3.

According to Section 7-1-7 of the Utah Code Ann., all financial institutions required to obtain a license under Utah law were to be subject to examination by the Bank Commissioner and examiners. Section 7-1-7 stated as follows:

All banks, all loan and trust companies, all building and loan associations, all industrial loan companies, all credit unions, all small loan businesses required to obtain a license under any provision of law, and all bank service corporations shall be under the supervision of the banking department and shall be subject to examination by the Bank Commissioner and examiners.

Grove Finance Company was in the business of making small loans and, although Chapter 10 of Title 7 dealing with small loan companies was repealed in 1969, the language of Section 7-1-7, Utah Code Ann., was not changed until 1981. It should also be noted that Grove Finance Company even as a supervised lender was required to obtain a license from the Department of Financial Institutions and was therefore a small loan business required to obtain a license under "any provision of law."

The Commissioner of the Department of Financial Institutions had a statutory duty to annually visit and examine

those financial institutions under his jurisdiction. Section 7-1-8, Utah Code Ann., provides as follows:

The bank commissioner, or an examiner, shall visit and examine every bank, savings bank, every loan and trust corporation, every building and loan association, every industrial loan company, every small loan business, and every cooperative bank, and at least once a year. At every such examination careful inquiry shall be made as to the condition and resources of each institution examined, the mode of conducting and managing its affairs, the official actions of its directors and officers, the investment and disposition of its funds, the security afforded to its members, if any, and to those by whom its engagements are held, whether or not it is violating any provisions of law relating to corporations or to the business of the institution examined, whether or not it is complying with its articles of incorporation and bylaws, and as to such other matters as the commissioner may prescribe.

The Commissioner of the Department of Financial Institutions has, therefore, a very clear duty under Title 7 to inspect those financial institutions which fall under his jurisdiction.

B. Duty To Inspect Under Title 70B. While the respondents in this case have continually denied that they have any duties to inspect Grove Finance Company pursuant to Title 7 of the Utah Code Ann., the respondents have admitted, however, that Grove Finance Company is under their jurisdiction pursuant to Title 70B of the Utah code and that the respondents have a statutory duty to examine the loans, business and records of Grove Finance Company pursuant to Section 70B-3-506 of the Utah Code. (R. at 387-388.)

Section 70B-3-505 imposes a duty upon every licensee to "maintain records in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and practices and in a manner that will enable the administrator to determine whether the licensee is complying with the provisions of this act." Grove Finance Company was therefore required by Title 70B to keep its records in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and practices.

Section 70B-3-506, Utah Code Ann., requires:

That administrator shall examine periodically at intervals he deems appropriate the loans, business and records of every licensee.

The Department of Financial Institutions pursuant to Section 70B-3-506 established a policy of examining each supervised lender subject to its jurisdiction once a year.

If this case is allowed to proceed to trial, appellants will establish, among other things, that the inspections of Grove Finance Company conducted by the Department of Financial Institutions were inadequate in their scope to comply with the requirements of Section 70B-3-506, Utah Code Ann.

In reviewing the motions for summary judgment, the district court apparently found that the applicable duties under Titles 7 and 70B were discretionary rather than mandatory or ministerial under Section 63-30-10(1)(a), Utah Code Ann. (1953). (R. at 138-139.) Hence, the court found no waiver of immunity and judgment was entered for the defendants on the

basis of governmental immunity. As will be more fully discussed herein, the duties of inspection were in fact mandatory or ministerial and the failure of the State in this regard cannot be waived. Thus the district court erred in its findings on duty to inspect.

POINT II

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY DOES NOT SHIELD THE RESPONDENTS FROM SUIT BECAUSE GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY HAS BEEN WAIVED FOR THIS TYPE OF NEGLIGENCE ACTION

The appellants allege and believe they can establish at trial that the respondents had statutory duties under both Title 7 and Title 70B of the Utah Code to supervise the financial integrity of Grove Finance Company and that the respondents negligently failed to perform said duties. The issue before this Court, however, is whether the respondents are immune from suit by virtue of the Utah Governmental Immunity Act.

Section 63-30-3 of the Utah Code states in pertinent part:

Except as may be otherwise provided in this Act, all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a governmental function

The appellants do not dispute that the regulation of financial institutions in the State of Utah is a governmental function under the standard set forth in Standiford v. Salt Lake City Corporation, 605 P.2d 1230 (Utah 1980), which defines a governmental function as an activity of such a unique nature

that it can only be performed by a governmental agency. This Court in Madsen v. Borthick, 658 P.2d 627 (Utah 1983), specifically held that the "supervision of financial institutions is an activity of such a unique nature that it can only be performed by a governmental agency."

Therefore, the claim of the appellants is that immunity for the negligent conduct alleged in the case at bar has been waived by Section 63-30-10 of the Utah Code. This section states in pertinent part as follows:

Immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission of an employee committed within the scope of his employment
. . . .

This section of the Governmental Immunity Act clearly waives governmental immunity for all governmental entities based on a claim of negligence; provided, however, that the negligence does not fall into one of the eleven enumerated exceptions to this waiver of immunity.

The district court in its memorandum decision held:

The nature of defendant Borthick's actions or claimed failure to act even if such were proven, are discretionary, and do not fall into a class of activities where governmental immunity has been waived.

(R. at 139.)

This ruling is in error and should be reversed by this court.

A. Respondent's Conduct Did Not Fall Within The Definition Of Discretionary Functions.

Section 63-30-10(1), Utah Code Ann. (1953), states that a government entity is immune if the injury:

(1) Arises out of the discretion or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function, whether or not the discretion is abused

In Frank v. State, 613 P.2d 517 (Utah 1980), the Utah Supreme Court stated that the purpose of the discretionary ministerial function distinction is the protection of governmental entities from suits for acts and decisions at the policymaking level. In this regard, the Court stated:

This Court has followed the lead of cases interpreting the Federal Torts Claim Act by distinguishing between those decisions occurring at a broad policymaking level and those taking place at the implementing operational level. In Carroll v. State Road Commuission, this Court recognized that almost all acts require some degree of discretion, and observed that the exception to the waiver set forth in the Act should be confined to those decisions and acts occurring at the basic policymaking level, and not extended to those acts and decisions taking place at the operational level, or in other words . . . those which concern routine everyday matters not requiring evaluation of broad policy factors.

Id. at 519-520. [Emphasis added.]

The respondents are not immune from suit under the discretionary function exception to the waiver of governmental immunity for negligent injuries because the negligent acts occurred when the respondents were operating at the operational level. An examination of the relevant statutes in this case clearly indicates that the respondents were not operating at the broad policymaking level in making the determinations that the respondents now claim are immune from suit based on the discretionary function exemption.

B. The Legislature Not The Respondents Set The Policy As To Which Financial Institutions Are Subject To The Jurisdiction Of The Department Of Financial Institutions.

The respondents alleged in the lower court that they were responsible to make the basic policy determinations as to which financial institutions are statutorily subject to the Department of Financial Institutions. (R. at 614.) This broad policy, however, was not left up to the discretion of the respondents in this case, but rather was specifically prescribed by the State Legislature. Section 7-3-3 states:

Any corporation holding itself out to the public as receiving money on deposit, whether evidenced by a certificate, promissory note or otherwise, shall be considered as doing a banking business and shall be subject to the provisions of this Chapter as to such business. [Emphasis added.]

Clearly in this section of the banking code the State Legislature and not the Department of Financial Institutions has made the broad policymaking decision as to which institutions are subject to banking supervision. was made at the Legislative level. The subsequent determinations by the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Institutions as to which corporations in this state do and do not fit this rather clear definition are on the operational level and are not immune from suit.

In Fidelity Casualty Company of New York v. Brightman, 53 F.2d 161 (8th Cir. 1931), the court in considering the distinction between discretionary and ministerial functions stated:

The Missouri rule is in line with the general run of authority that a public official charged with discretionary duties is not liable for a mistake of judgment or an erroneous performance of said duties unless he be guilty of willful wrong in relation thereto, but as to ministerial duties he is liable for the violation or neglect thereof to the party injured thereby and that a mistake of judgment does not excuse him.

Id. at 165. [Emphasis added.]

There may be some judgment required even in the performance of mandatory ministerial duties. However, even if, as claimed by the respondents, the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Institutions had to exercise judgment in determining which financial institutions came within the very specific definition of Section 7-3-3 of the Utah Code, such judgment making does not become transformed into a discretionary function. The Commissioner of the Department of Financial Institutions remains liable for a mistake in judgment in such a case.

C. The Legislature Not The Respondents Set The Policy As To The Kind Of Supervision To Be Exercised By The Department Of Financial Institutions.

The respondents claimed further in the lower court that they were required to make a discretionary decision as to what kind of supervision the Department of Financial Institutions was to exercise over the financial institutions in its jurisdiction. (R. at 614.) Again, it is clear from the law that this policymaking decision has already been made by

the Legislature and was not left up to the Department of Financial Institutions. Section 7-1-8 of the Utah Code specifically set forth:

The bank commissioner, or an examiner, shall visit and examine every bank, savings bank, every loan and trust corporation, every building and loan association, every industrial loan company, every small loan business, and every cooperative bank, at least one a year. At every such examination careful inquiry shall be made as to the condition and resources of the institution examined, the mode of conducting and managing its affairs, the official actions of its directors and officers, and investment and disposition of its funds, the security afforded its members, if any, and to those by whom its engagements are held, whether or not it is violating any provisions of law relating to corporations or to the business of the institution examined, whether or not it is complying with its articles of incorporation and bylaws, and as to such other matters as the commissioner may prescribe.
[Emphasis added.]

In addition, Sections 7-1-8 and 7-1-13 through 7-1-23 further set forth in detail the kind of supervision which is to be exercised by the Department of Financial Institutions over the financial institutions under its jurisdiction. The carrying out of the specific statutory requirements are therefore ministerial acts and not discretionary acts.

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