1985

# Matthew Fenn Hilton vs. Mirvin D. Borthick : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Supervised lenders may include supervised financial organizations. . . Since supervised financial organizations are already subject to a supervision by a state or federal official or agency, such organizations are not required to obtain a license under this Act. . . but their power may be limited by statutes other than this Act.

The clear intent is that supervised lenders (such as Grove Finance) and supervised financial organizations (which Grove Finance was not) be subject to separate statutory schemes, and not simply lumped together for regulatory purposes. While it is true that supervised financial organizations, already subject to regulation under other laws, may sometimes also qualify as supervised lenders, the converse is not true; no statute makes lenders licensed under Title 70B subject to control under Title 7.

Appellants also claim (Appellants' Brief, p. 9) that the State had a duty to examine Grove for financial soundness

under Utah Code Ann. 70B-3-506, requiring the Commissioner to "examine periodically . . . the loans, business and records" of each licensee, and under Utah Code Ann. 70B-3-505(1):

Every licensee shall maintain records in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and practices in a manner that will enable the administrator to determine whether the licensee is complying with the provisions of this act. The record keeping system of a licensee shall be sufficient if he makes the required information reasonably available . . . .  
(Emphasis added).

Appellants' interpretation, of course, ignores the statutory language emphasized above. The requirement is that records be kept to permit a determination of compliance with the provisions of the U.C.C.C.; and if such compliance can be determined, the record are sufficient. U.C.C.C. requirements for supervised lenders relate to disclosure (e.g., Utah Code Ann. 70B-2-301, et seq. and -3-301, et seq.) and maximum charges (e.g., Utah Code Ann. 70B-3-508 and -511). No provision of the U.C.C.C. requires the State to probe into or insure the financial integrity of supervised lenders, or to exercise the more stringent supervisory powers which pertained to title 7 entities. Furthermore, it is clear on the record and not disputed that the Grove Finance records pertaining to supervised loans were generally in accordance with accepted accounting principles (Sherwood deposition, p. 39), fulfilling any duty imposed by Utah Code Ann. 70B-3-505(1).

The record now before the Court attests that Grove Finance complied with all reporting requirements, both as a small loan business and as a supervised lender, and that examinations by the Department of Financial Institutions indicated no U.C.C.C. violations, prior to issuance of the cease-and-desist order in 1980 (R. 771-3, 717-47). Appellants have not alleged that their loss resulted from any violation of disclosure rules or of maximum charge limits or of any other substantive restriction on supervised lenders imposed by the U.C.C.C., and Respondents are not aware of any such violation. Appellant would have the Court go far beyond the statutory directive for the Department to receive reports and perform examinations for U.C.C.C. compliance--Appellants would impose a duty on the State to make all supervised lenders failure-proof and all investments in such entities loss-proof. There is simply no basis for concluding that the Utah Legislature intended to impose such a duty on the State, or to allow potential enormous liability to result from the State's examinations.

B. DUTY OF CARE

The commanding majority of cases considering the issue have concluded that, even where a statutory duty exists to regulate financial institutions, no duty of care exists in the regulating agency upon which tort liability may be based for disappointed creditors or investors. No statutory duty of

supervision exists in the instant matter, but even if it did, Appellants still could not recover.

Perhaps the best-reasoned of numerous opinions on this issue are two which concern the failure of Franklin National Bank, the largest bank failure in United States history. In complex litigation involving the F.D.I.C., auditors and insurance companies, the United States was named as a third-party defendant on the grounds that bank inspections and other regulatory functions were performed negligently.

In re Franklin National Bank Securities Litigation, 445 F.Supp. 723 (E.D.N.Y., 1978), the Court considered the government's motion to dismiss. In an attempt to establish a duty running to the bank and its shareholders, the third-party plaintiffs cited the mandatory language of 12 U.S.C. 481, providing, "The Comptroller of the Currency . . . shall examine every national bank twice in each calendar year. . . ." (emphasis added). The Court found no duty on that basis.

Notwithstanding possible incidental benefits to the examined banks, to hold that the examinations were therefore designed to protect the shareholders, officers or directors from any fraud at these banks would make the United States an insurer of all banking activities. This would be an enormous liability that should not be read into the statute absent a clearer expression of congressional intent. . . . (emphasis added).

The third-party plaintiffs also alleged that the government assumed a duty toward the bank and its shareholders by extensive involvement in the daily operations of the bank for a considerable time before its insolvency. The Court held that the government assumed no duty by regulating a bank, such that negligent regulation would give rise to tort liability. Id. at 732. Nevertheless, the Court found this "an extraordinary case," where the completion of discovery was necessary, so the motion was denied, id. at 734, without prejudice to a motion for summary judgment, id. at 728.

Subsequently, In re Franklin National Bank Securities Litigation, supra, 478 F.Supp. 210 (E.D.N.Y., 1979), the government's motion for summary judgment was granted. The Court found no theory of duty (either a statutory duty or an assumed duty) to be convincing, and noted that, "So far no court has held that any of the statutory provisions" regarding the Comptroller, Federal Reserve Bank, or F.D.I.C., "create any actionable duty running to the regulated institutions." Id. at 214. The court stated that supervision of the banking system was for the protection of the public as a whole, not for the protection of individual banks and their shareholders.

This analysis has led every court addressing the issue to conclude that the Comptroller's mandate to conduct national bank examinations does not create an actionable duty running to the examined bank; the Comptroller's failure

to detect weakness or dishonesty at an examined bank gives rise to no cause of action against the United States. . . .  
Id. at 215 (emphasis added).

Other cases where the duty issue has been examined include First State Bank of Hudson County v. United States, 599 F.2d 588 (3d Cir., 1979), cert. den., 444 U.S. 1013, 100 S.Ct. 662 (1980), supra (affirming dismissal of action on failure of F.D.I.C. examiner to warn bank of discovered criminal activities by bank officer); Harmsen v. Smith, 586 F.2d 156 (9th Cir., 1978) (affirming dismissal of action for Comptroller's negligent failure to discover illegal practices during bank examination); Davis v. F.D.I.C., 369 F.Supp. 277 (D. Colo., 1974) (dismissing action for failure to notify public of discovered irregularities in bank); and Social Security Administration Baltimore Federal Credit Union v. United States, 138 F.Supp. 639 (D. Md., 1956) (holding of no duty and no liability for negligent failure of government examiners to discover embezzlement by credit union official).

In earlier proceedings in this matter, Appellants have cited Tcherepnin v. Franz, 570 F.2d 187 (7th Cir., 1978), cert. den., 439 U.S. 876, 99 S.Ct. 214 (1978), and State v. Superior Court of Maricopa County, 123 Ariz. 324, 599 P.2d 777 (1979), where regulatory agencies have been found to have a duty running to creditors of failed financial entities. These cases are the only cases so holding, are poorly reasoned and aberrational, and

have been consistently distinguished and avoided by courts in the states where they were handed down (cf., e.g., Cady v. State, 129 Ariz. 258, 630 P.2d 554 (1981), and Hicks v. Williams, 104 Ill.App.3d 172, 432 N.E.2d 1278 (1982), and analysis of these cases at R. 629-33). At this junction, it may suffice simply to point out that (1) Tcherepnin and State v. Superior Court involved the failure of a savings association and two thrift associations, respectively--entities whose financial soundness government had a clear statutory duty to supervise, unlike the instant case; and (2) the holdings in those cases were based on repeated statutory references to protection of those in the plaintiffs' class, an aspect entirely absent from this case.

A far more sound consideration of the question is Commonwealth, Department of Banking & Securities v. Brown, 605 S.W.2d 497 (Ky., 1980), where the plaintiffs sought damages for the dereliction of state examiners in not ascertaining or reporting the true condition of the records of two building and loan associations. Reversing a judgment and dismissing the action, the Kentucky Supreme Court stated:

There is no public policy requiring government to guarantee the success of its efforts. When the governmental entity is performing a self-imposed protective function as it was in the case at hand, the individual citizen has no right to demand recourse against it though he is injured by its failure to efficiently perform such function. Any ruling to the contrary would tend to

constitute the Commonwealth an insurer of the quality of services its many agents perform and serve only to stifle government's attempts to provide needed services to the public which could not otherwise be effectively supplied.

Id. at 499. Conceding that the state may sometimes act imperfectly, but finding that risk to be "the natural concomitant of our form of government," the Court continued:

We perceive that the public interest is better served by a government which can aggressively seek to identify and meet the current needs of the citizenry, uninhibited by the threat of financial loss should its good faith efforts provide less than optimal--or even desirable--results. Id.

Respondents are not aware of any case, in any jurisdiction, where an administrator under the U.C.C.C. has been found liable for any failure to properly regulate a supervised lender. As noted above, suits to recover damages for bank failures have regularly been dismissed; the same result must obtain, a fortiori, for the failure of a supervised lender, where government's statutory duty of supervision is far less stringent than for banks and most other kinds of financial institutions.

In Little v. Utah State Division of Family Services, supra, 667 P.2d 49 (Utah, 1983), this Court recently applied a duty-risk analysis in reviewing a negligence judgment, relying on Professor Thode's article, "Tort Analysis: Duty-Risk v. Proximate Cause and the Rational Allocation of Functions Between



Judge and Jury," at 1977 Utah L. Rev. 1. According to Professor Thode, the duty-risk determination of whether the legal system's protection extends to the risk in question--i.e., whether the risk to which the plaintiff was subjected was within the scope of the defendant's duty--is entirely a legal question for the court to determine, based upon a weighing of public policy and other pertinent considerations. Thode, op. cit., 26-28; see Little, supra, 667 P.2d at 54, where the Court looks to applicable statutes in determining the scope of the duty of a state agency.

In the instant matter, the absence of statutory duty has already been discussed, and the sound public policy grounds for finding no duty are evident. If government is found to have a duty upon which tort liability can be based toward every person affected by an activity which government must, by statute, regulate, then government becomes an insurer for the total safety and soundness of all regulated activities. In particular, if, as here, an agency is charged by statute with limited regulatory duties for a particular kind of business, and on that basis a duty is inferred to protect all parties from any loss arising from any activity of the business, it is difficult to foresee the extent to which government's liability for not providing an injury-free society may extend.

Furthermore, there is and can be no allegation here that any action or inaction of Respondents gave rise to any

justifiable reliance by Grove Finance investors on which any theory of an assumption of duty could be based. From 1969 on, the Department of Financial Institutions did not examine or regulate supervised lenders for financial soundness, and that policy applied across the board to all supervised and regulated lenders licensed under the U.C.C.C. (R. 772, 786).

There is simply no basis, statutory, common-law, common-sense, or otherwise, to extend the State's duty to protecting all investors in Appellants' class. As a matter of law, no liability may be found.

III. APPELLANTS' CHALLENGE TO THE MONETARY  
LIABILITY LIMITS OF THE GOVERNMENTAL  
IMMUNITY ACT ON EQUAL PROTECTION GROUNDS  
WAS NOT PROPERLY RAISED IN THE DISTRICT  
COURT; IS NOT RIPE FOR DECISION IN THIS  
ACTION; AND IN ANY EVENT, HAS NO MERIT  
AS A MATTER OF LAW.

In Point V of their Brief, Appellants argue that the statutory limit on the amount which may be recovered in an action against a governmental entity or employee, currently codified in Utah Code Ann. 63-30-34,<sup>8</sup> violates the equal protection provisions of the United States Constitution (Fourteenth Amendment, sec. 1) and Utah Constitution (article I, sec. 24).

---

<sup>8</sup> At the time Grove Finance closed its doors, Utah Code Ann. 63-30-34 instructed courts to reduce judgments against governmental entities and their employees to the dollar limits then set out in Utah Code Ann. 63-30-29; see text of these sections in Utah Code Ann., 1981 pocket supplement to second replacement volume 7A and in Appendix B herein.

This Court has held that issues not raised in the trial court on motions for summary judgment may not be raised for the first time on appeal and be considered, e.g., Franklin Financial v. New Empire Development Company, 659 P.2d 1040 (Utah, 1983), Bangerter v. Poulton, 663 P.2d 100 (Utah, 1983). The same rule applies to the raising of constitutional issues, where no individual's liberty is at stake, Pratt v. City Council of City of Riverton, 639 P.2d 172 (Utah, 1981). A review of each of the memoranda of law submitted by Appellants below, pertaining to their own and Respondents' summary judgment motions (R. 656-87, 838-63, 949-59), fails to disclose any mention of a constitutional question as to the liability limits. Nor was the matter raised in oral argument. The issue not having been raised or considered below, it may not be raised now for the first time.

Furthermore, this Court has very properly disfavored the rendering of advisory opinions, particularly on constitutional issues, where a challenged statute has not been applied to a litigant's disadvantage:

[A] fundamental rule of long-standing is that unnecessary decisions are to be avoided and that the courts should pass upon the constitutionality of a statute only when such a determination is essential to the decision in a case. A constitutional question does not arise merely because it is raised and a decision is sought thereon. . . .

A further fundamental rule is that the courts do not busy themselves with

advisory opinions. . . It has been found to be far wiser, and it has become settled as a general principle, that a constitutional question is not to be reached if the merits of the case in hand may be fairly determined on other than constitutional issues.

Hoyle v. Monson, 606 P.2d 240, 242 (Utah, 1980). An appellant affected by one portion of a statute or act may not attack the constitutionality of another portion of the same act not applicable to his case, Cavaness v. Cox, 598 P.2d 349, 351-2 (Utah, 1979).

As of 1980, Utah Code Ann. 63-30-34 stated:

If any judgment or award against a governmental entity . . . or against a governmental employee . . . exceeds the minimum amounts . . . specified in section 63-30-29, the court shall reduce the amount of the judgment or award to a sum equal to the minimum requirements  
. . . .

By its clear terms, the statute does not apply unless and until a judgment or award in excess of the statutory limits is entered. Of course, no judgment of any kind has been entered in this case, and it is entirely problematic and speculative at this point whether or not any judgment in excess of the statutory limits will ever be entered. Appellants clearly seek an advisory opinion on a statute which has not been, and may never be, applied to them. The question is not ripe for decision (and, in any event, Respondents submit that the non-constitutional grounds set forth in Points I and II herein are dispositive of this case).

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